# UC San Diego

**Capstone Papers** 

## Title

Sharks Without Borders: Population Structure in Common Thresher Sharks (*Alopias vulpinus*) in the Northeastern Pacific, and Implications for US/Mexico Bilateral Management

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/6tv4p93g

Author Chappell, Alayne

Publication Date 2017-04-01

# **Sharks Without Borders**

Population Structure in Common Thresher Sharks (Alopias vulpinus) in the Northeastern Pacific, and Implications for US/Mexico Bilateral Management



# Alayne Chappell Capstone Report, 2017

Master of Advanced Studies 2016-2017 Scripps Institution of Oceanography Center for Marine Biodiversity and Conservation



## **Capstone Advisory Committee Final Capstone Project Signature Form**

Population Structure in Common Thresher Sharks (Alopias vulpinus) in the Northeastern Pacific, and Implications for US/Mexico Bilateral Management

Alayne Chappell

# Spring 2017

# **MAS Marine Biodiversity and Conservation**

**Capstone Project** 

Capstone Advisory Committee

Signature	(email approval)	Print Name	Dr. Dovi Kacev (Ch	<u>air) </u> I	Date _6-15-17
Affiliation	NOAA SWFSC	Emaildov	i.kacev@gmail.com	_Phone_	_858-717-0942
Signature	(email approval)	Print Name	Dr. Dan Cartam	<u>iil </u> D	Date6-15-17
Affiliation	EI	mail <u>dcar</u>	tamil@ucsd.edu	Phone	619-887-4772
Signature		_Print Name	Dr. Philip Hasting	<u>gs</u> D	ate6-15-17
Affiliation	<u>SIO</u> E	mail <u>phas</u>	tings@ucsd.edu F	hone	858-822-2913
Signature _	(email approval)	Print Name	e Dr. Andrew Nos	al Da	ate6-15-17
Affiliation	SIO E	mail <u>an</u>	osal@ucsd.edu	Phone _	

# **Table of Contents**

Introduction
Background4
Biology and Ecology4
History and Status of Fishery6
Genetic Data Analyses
Methods
Results
Discussion15
Survey
Results and Discussion
Management and Future Research Implications21
Conclusion
Recommendations
Acknowledgments
References
Appendix

## Introduction

'Sharks have existed on Earth for over 400 million years,' (Hubbell 1996) — a fact often recited by shark advocates the world over—and for good reason. An animal with such impressive resilience over time, juxtaposed against rapidly declining populations, is compelling; an effective anchor from which to explore shark conservation. But in the reality of an anthropocentric world, we must consider the complexities of animal conservation in terms of resource management. Sharks are biologically and ecologically diverse, widespread, and often highly migratory, with fishing occurring all over the world under highly-disjointed management. It is estimated that one-quarter of the world's sharks and rays are threatened due to overfishing, both targeted and incidental (Dulvy et al. 2014). With slow growth rates and low fecundity, large sharks are particularly vulnerable to overexploitation (Holden 1974; Hoff & Musick, 1990). Further, removing top predators from their environment can negatively impact the greater ecosystem (Stevens et al. 2000). But with different species and different populations facing unique pressures, it is important to consider shark conservation on a species-by-species basis.

This project focuses on Common Thresher sharks (*Alopias vulpinas*) in the northeastern Pacific (NEP), hereafter referred to as "NEP Common Thresher," exploring genetic relatedness and population structure among Common Thresher sharks found in Baja California, Mexico (BC) and California waters, and considerations for effective bilateral management between the two countries where they are commercially and recreational caught. The US and Mexico manage their Common Thresher shark fisheries independently of each other and there are currently no binational fisheries management plans between the US and Mexico (Teo et al. 2016). While important for managing fish populations that span multiple jurisdictions, bilateral fisheries agreements are uncommon (Caddy & Seijo 2005). Further, there is a particular need for more information of shark populations around the world to inform management efforts (Bradshaw et al. 2008). Although tagging studies provide important information, more research into population structure is needed for many shark species (Ahonen et al. 2009), as well as insights into population genetic health (Frankham 1995; Portnoy et al. 2009).

With the goal of learning more about NEP Common Thresher sharks and their management, I address four research questions in this project: 1) Do these sharks comprise a single, panmictic population? 2) What can genetic identification of sibling relationships tell us about the population(s) response to the international border? 3) What is the effective population size ( $N_e$ ) for this/these population(s)? 4) What is known about the status of this population; and what are perspectives on efficacy of current management?

## Background

## **Biology and Ecology**

There are three known extant species of thresher shark: Common Thresher (*Alopias vulpinus*), Bigeye Thresher (*Alopias superciliosus*), and Pelagic Thresher (*Alopias pelagicus*). Common Thresher sharks are the largest of the three species at an estimated size from about 114-156 cm TL (total length) at birth to over 300 cm TL fully grown (Hixon 1979; Compagno 1984; Moreno et al. 1989).



The Common Thresher shark is a coastal-pelagic shark found <sub>Source: www.threshercove.com</sub> in temperate and subtropical waters of the Atlantic, Pacific and Indian Oceans (Compagno 2001; Smith et al. 2008) (Figure 1). In the northeastern Pacific, they inhabit waters from BC to British Columbia, Canada, with the highest concentrations in the Southern California Bight (SCB) and few are found beyond 30 km from shore (Hanan et al. 1993). Research has shown that while migratory, Common Thresher sharks from different areas of world are not emigrating between regions (Moreno et al. 1989, Bedford 1992; Trejo 2005).

Their elongated upper lobe of the caudal fin is used to stun prey, which includes various forage fish and squid (Compagno 2001). Like most large sharks, Common Threshers are slow growing and slow to reproduce (Smith et al. 2008). It is estimated that NEP Common Threshers reach maturity at about 5.3 years of age (Smith et al. 2008) and can live up to 50 years (Cailliet et al. 1983; Smith et al. 1998). Tagging studies in the SCB have shown that sub-adults and adults spend time in deeper offshore waters, while juveniles use shallow waters over the continental shelf as a nursery (Cartamil et al. 2010a; Cartamil et al. 2010b).



Figure 1: Common Thresher shark distribution. (Source: Compagno 2001)

#### **History and Status of Fishery**

In both the US and Mexico, Common Thresher sharks are targeted in commercial and

recreational fisheries and considered one of the most important commercially-caught sharks in both areas. In fact, Common Threshers are the most common commercially landed shark in California, targeted secondarily in long-line and purse seine fisheries, caught incidentally in nearshore set gillnets and small-mesh drift gillnets (USSN) fisheries, and targeted in a small recreational fishery in Southern



California (USREC) (CDFG 2010). In Mexico, Common Thresher sharks are primarily targeted in near shore gillnet artisanal fisheries along the BC coast (Cartamil et al. 2011; Teo et al. 2016).

## United States

The commercial fishery for Thresher sharks in California began in the late 1970s with the creation of the swordfish/shark drift gillnet (USDGN) fishery (CDFG 2010). This was a significant fishery in the early 1980s with an estimated 1,000 metric tons being landed in 1982, followed by a sharp decline in the local population (Goldman 2000). In the 1990s, restrictions were placed on the USDGN fishery with the passage of the Marine Resources Protection Act banning gillnets in the SCB within 3 miles of shore (MRPA 1990). The fishery then shifted to primarily targeting swordfish and seasonal/area closures were implemented by the Pacific Fisheries Management Council (PFMC) (Young et al. 2016). These restrictions continued throughout the late 1990s and 2000s and in 2004 the PFMC implemented a precautionary catch limit through their Highly Migratory Species (HMS) Fisheries Management Plan (FMP) (Young et al. 2016). Currently, under the HMS FMP, precautionary levels are set at 340 metric tons per year for Common Thresher shark catch, and US average annual commercial landings based on 2004-2014 data have been around 115 metric tons per year (PFMC 2016).

#### Mexico

Common Thresher sharks comprised an important fishery in the late 1980s in the Mexican drift gillnet fishery (MXDGN) in Ensenada, BC, which like the USDGN fishery, primarily targeted swordfish and pelagic sharks (Teo et al. 2016). Since the 1990s, landings of Common Threshers have

declined as longlines have replaced drift gillnets for fishing high seas and in 2010 the MXDGN fishery was closed through federal regulation (Teo et al. 2016). However, juvenile Common Threshers are still frequently caught in near-shore artisanal fisheries (Cartamil 2011). Accurate estimates of Common Thresher shark catches from Mexican fisheries are difficult to obtain due to inconsistent and inadequate reporting (Teo et al. 2016). Until 2006, sharks were reported merely as "Tiburon" for large sharks (longer than 150 cm) or "Cazon" for smaller sharks (less than 150 cm), with any thresher species reported as "Tiburon." Since 2006, species are reported with more discretion but thresher sharks are still only reported as one category, whether they are Common, Pelagic, or Bigeye Thresher sharks. This interjects a certain amount of uncertainty around accuracy of fisheries-dependent data used in assessments of Common Threshers in BC waters.

#### Genetic Data Analyses

Common Thresher sharks are widely distributed around the world (Compagno 2001), but accurate understanding of distribution patterns of Thresher sharks may be hampered due to misidentification with Bigeye and Pelagic Threshers in some cases (Smith et al. 2008). One study suggests possible genetic differentiation among Thresher sharks across their global range (Trejo 2005), but more research is needed to understand these dynamics. More is known about NEP Common Thresher sharks than other areas (Smith et al. 2008), and this stock is considered the most effectively managed in terms of sustainable fishing (Teo et al. 2016). Cartamil et al. (2010a, b) have researched movements and abundance of NEP Common Threshers using tagging methods and analyses of fisheries catch data, showing adult threshers utilizing off-shore waters while juveniles primarily stay near shore in nursery grounds.

Precautionary management based on relevant science is crucial for the conservation of the species and populations. Sharks can be difficult to study and therefore difficult to manage. Tagging data provides important insight into migration and abundance while fisheries-dependent data from catch reports can also contribute to our understanding of shark populations. However, fisheries catch reporting leaves room for inaccuracies. Genetic analyses of sharks can help provide insight into population health through genetic diversity metrics, information about population structure and movements, and a baseline to which other Common Thresher shark populations might be compared in future studies, as well as for use in future studies of NEP Common Threshers. Further, genetic analyses can tell us about the demographic history of a population. For example, Common Thresher sharks were heavily fished in BC and California during the 1980s and 1990s (PFMC 2003), potentially creating a genetic bottleneck or a sharp reduction in the population size due to outside influences, possibly reducing the genetic diversity and potential adaptability.

For this project, previously-collected genetic data from Common Thresher sharks were analyzed for insight into population structure, genetic relatedness, and effective population size  $(N_e)$ . The results of this study can be used to support bilateral management of this population.

#### Methods

#### Genetics Data

Genetic data were sampled from 549 Common Thresher sharks off the coast of California and BC, from 1997 to 2012. The resulting dataset includes juveniles sampled from two sub-regions: BC (N=55) and Southern California (N=330), and adults sampled from three sub-regions: Northern (N=55)

and Southern California (N=54) and BC (N=55). All individuals were genotyped at 11 independent microsatellite loci. Of the individuals of known sex, there was close to a 1:1 sex ratio for both juvenile and adult sharks (50 female adults, 48 male adults, 41 female juveniles, 59 male juveniles).

#### Summary statistics

We tested for conformity to Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium using the R package StrataG 1.0.5 (Archer et al. 2016). Loci were then analyzed for observed ( $H_0$ ) and expected heterozygosity ( $H_E$ ), and allelic richness ( $A_R$ ) in StrataG.

#### **Population Structure**

For insight into population structure, we ran the dataset through StrataG to produce several differentiation metrics using 10,000 permutations. The differentiation metrics analyzed include  $F_{ST}$  (Wright's inbreeding coefficient) and G'<sub>ST</sub> (Nei's coefficient of gene variation).  $F_{ST}$  is the most commonly referenced differentiation metric, while G'<sub>ST</sub> is more appropriate for multi-allelic loci with high heterozygosity (Hedrick 1999). For each differentiation metric, global estimates were calculated as well as pairwise estimates among the five sampled regions.

#### Sibship analysis

As an additional test for functional separation between Thresher sharks across the US/Mexico border, we looked for sibling relationships based on genotypes using Colony2 version 2.0.6.3 (Wang & Santure 2009). Sharks less than 110 cm FL were considered offspring. We ran offspring (N=382), female (N=50), and male (N=48) genotypes through Colony2 with the following selections: Mating System I=Female Polygamy; Mating System II=With Inbreeding and Without Clone; Species=Dioecious and Diploid; Analysis Method=Full-Likelihood (FL); and for Likelihood Precision, Length of Run, Run Specifications, and Sibship Prior, default settings were used. Marker Type is codominant, and an Error Rate of zero was used.

We used an arbitrary threshold of  $\ge 0.6$  probability of sibship, using only those pairings above a 60% likelihood for further analyses. We then calculated the age difference between sibling pairs (see aging in the next section). In R, we calculated the age distribution showing how many sibling pairs differed in age 0-10 years. We also counted the number of sibling pairs that spanned the international border. To test if this was different from random, we randomly paired individuals from our dataset to create the same number of random pairings as found in our sibling dataset and counted how many pairs are divided between BC and California sub-regions. We repeated this calculation 1,000 times to

determine the distribution of random cross border pairings and then tested whether the count of true cross-border sibling pairs fell within the 95% percentile of that distribution.

#### Effective Population Size

Effective population size  $(N_e)$  is a is a metric of genetic drift and approximates the number of breeding individuals in the population. Calculation of  $N_e$  was performed using a temporal method (Waples 1989) as implemented in the R package NB version 1.0 (Hui & Burt 2015). Calculation of  $N_e$  required the dataset be organized into cohorts based on year of birth. The sampled sharks were not aged upon collection. However, fork length (FL) was recorded or estimated for each shark. We used a novel quantitative approach to age each individual shark in our dataset. Using R, we inverted a length-at-age transition matrix, sourced from a recent NOAA Thresher Shark stock assessment (Teo et al. 2016), using a vector containing previously estimated total numbers of individuals per age group (also sourced from the NOAA assessment) to create an age-at-length transition matrix. This provided a matrix of estimated probabilities that a shark of a certain length would be a certain age. We then created a function in R to estimate ages for all sampled sharks using this transition matrix. We then calculated estimated birth years based on age and year of capture, and grouped them into birth-year cohorts.

We created an input dataset of allele counts per cohort year that we ran through NB.estimator in R, along with a vector containing the number of alleles at each locus, and a default lower and upper bound of 50 and 1e+07, respectively. Because the aging is a stochastic process, we ran the whole R script through 1,000 times to obtain a distribution of N<sub>e</sub> results. Each run produced an estimate of N<sub>e</sub>, lower and upper confidence interval (CI) estimates, and a likelihood estimate. We capped the upper CI at 1x10^7 to ensure the package ran efficiently (an upper CI of 10,000,000 is equivalent to infinity in other programs).

#### **Results**

#### Summary statistics

Deviation from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium was not detected. Our locus summary statistics (Table 1) show that differences between  $H_0$  and  $H_E$  are not statistically significant and confirm that our data conforms to Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium. The mean proportion of unique alleles was 0.09 (Table 1), indicating the subpopulations have few unique alleles and therefore relatively high diversity across the loci.  $H_0$  estimates ranged from 0.10–0.93 with a mean of 0.74, and  $H_E$  estimates ranged from 0.11–0.93 with a mean of 0.76 (Table 1), indicating a relatively high degree of genetic diversity. When

compared to estimates for other species (Table 2), our mean  $H_0$  and  $H_E$  is among the higher estimates, most comparable to lemon sharks (Feldheim, Gruber & Ashley 2001).

Allelic richness ( $A_R$ ) is a measure of genetic diversity that can indicate how well a population may adapt to future influences. Allelic richness ranged from  $A_R$ =0.01-0.05 with a mean  $A_R$  of 0.03, indicating low allelic diversity. O'Leary et al. (2015) calculated allelic richness for South African ( $A_R$ =9.07) and Northwestern Atlantic ( $A_R$ =7.86) White Sharks. Scalloped Hammerhead sharks in the Eastern Pacific and the Gulf of Mexico were shown to have a range of  $A_R$ =4.89–6.91 (Daly-Engel et al. 2012). Relative to these estimates, the  $A_R$  for the NEP Common Thresher population is low.

Locus	A	A <sub>R</sub>	Proportion of unique alleles	H <sub>E</sub>	H <sub>o</sub>
Locus 1	23	0.04	0.04	0.91	0.91
Locus 2	4	0.01	0.50	0.11	0.10
Locus 3	9	0.02	0.11	0.68	0.71
Locus 4	16	0.03	0.00	0.90	0.88
Locus 5	22	0.04	0.09	0.91	0.93
Locus 6	9	0.02	0.00	0.61	0.61
Locus 7	17	0.03	0.00	0.91	0.66
Locus 8	17	0.03	0.00	0.85	0.86
Locus 9	27	0.05	0.07	0.93	0.92
Locus 10	14	0.03	0.07	0.84	0.83
Locus 11	13	0.02	0.15	0.72	0.70
Mean	15.55	0.03	0.09	0.76	0.74

Table 1: Locus summary statistics

Table 2: Examples of heterozygosity estimates from other studies

Species	Ho	Avg. H <sub>o</sub>	$H_{\rm E}$	Avg. $H_{\rm E}$	Reference
Whale shark	0.44-0.85	0.66	0.40-1.00	0.69	Schmidt et al. 2009
Spiny dogfish	0.37-0.84	0.59	0.51-0.81	0.68	McCauley et al. 2004
Zebra shark	0.40-0.97	0.63	0.34-0.92	0.71	Dudgeon et al. 2006
Nurse shark	0.17-0.90	0.55	0.16-0.92	0.54	Heist et al. 2003
Sandtiger shark	0.29-0.75	0.62	0.28-0.73	0.61	Feldheim et al. 2007
White shark	0.45-0.95	0.70	0.51-0.83	0.66	Pardini et al. 2000
Shortfin shark	0.77-0.91	0.86	0.82-0.96	0.89	Schrey & Heist 2002
Blacktip shark	0.10-0.96	0.50	0.09–0.96	0.50	Keeney et al. 2005
Sandbar shark	0.63-1.00	0.87	0.57-0.96	0.85	Portnoy et al. 2006
Spot-tail shark	0.12-0.82	0.50	0.16-0.95	0.54	Ovenden, Street, & Broderick 2006
Australian blacktip	0.44-0.78	0.65	0.54-0.92	0.73	Ovenden, Street, & Broderick 2006

Lemon shark	0.68-0.87	0.77	0.69-0.90	0.78	Feldheim, Gruber & Ashley 2001
Bonnethead shark	0.51-0.87	0.65	0.55-0.96	0.69	Chapman et al. 2004

#### Population genetic structure

 $F_{ST}$  and  $G'_{ST}$  are measures of population differentiation or the level of genetic variation between populations. In general, values of zero for either metric indicate complete panmixia wherein the population(s) are interbreeding freely;  $F_{ST}$  of 1 indicates there is no shared genetic diversity among the individuals sampled. Our results showed global estimates for  $F_{ST}$  and  $G'_{ST}$  were both <0.001, indicating no evidence for population structure. Pairwise  $F_{ST}$  and  $G'_{ST}$  indices did not show significant genetic differentiation among sub-regions (Table 3), further showing no evidence for population structure, indicating one population spanning BC to Northern California.

Sub-regions comparisons	F <sub>ST</sub>	F <sub>ST</sub> P-Value	G' <sub>ST</sub>	G' <sub>ST</sub> P-Value
MX_A (55) v. MX_J (55)	-0.003	0.950	-0.010	0.950
MX_A (55) v. N_CA (55)	-0.003	0.977	-0.013	0.988
MX_A (55) v. S_CA_A (54)	-0.004	0.999	-0.012	0.999
MX_A (55) v. S_CA_J (330)	-0.002	0.985	-0.006	0.985
MX_J (55) v. N_CA (55)	-0.003	0.979	-0.013	0.989
MX_J (55) v. S_CA_A (54)	-0.002	0.937	-0.010	0.937
MX_J (55) v. S_CA_J (330)	0.000	0.368	-0.004	0.386
N_CA (55) v. S_CA_A (54)	-0.002	0.883	-0.012	0.915
N_CA (55) v. S_CA_J (330)	0.000	0.560	-0.006	0.980
S_CA_A (54) v. S_CA_J (330)	-0.001	0.848	-0.005	0.851

Table 3: Pairwise population structure results

MX\_A=Mexico Adults; MX\_J=Mexico Juveniles; S\_CA\_A=Southern California Adults; S\_CA\_J=Southern California Juveniles; N\_CA\_A=Northern California Adults

#### Sibship analysis

Colony2 produced allele matches for 3 full sibling pairs and 487 half sibling relationships. Figure 2 shows the distribution of age separation between siblings, indicating that while most siblings are aged within 0-1 years of one another, some are as far as 10 years apart in age.



Figure 2: Distribution of number of years between sibling pairs

A random distribution of likelihood of siblings being from the same sub-region (Figure 3) shows the number of random pairings that spanned the border at the time of sampling. The blue line marks the 0.05 lower quantile of the distribution. If the number of siblings that span the border is lower than this, we can assume there are fewer of those siblings than there are randomly throughout the population range. The black line marks the actual count of 118 sibling relationships that span the border calculated from our data. It falls in the middle of the random distribution, indicating that the US/Mexico border is not a boundary for sibship.



Figure 3: Random distribution of siblings

### Effective Population Size

The effective population size  $(N_e)$  is a metric of genetic drift, reflecting the number of breeding adults in the population and potential for inbreeding (Lande & Barrowclough 1987). Our results show a mean  $N_e$  of 5,240 (Table 4). Figure 4 shows the distribution of 1,000 permutations that were run through NB.

	N <sub>e</sub> Estimate	Lower CI	Upper CI	Likelihood
Min	3847	1739	209728	-4466
1 <sup>st</sup> Quartile	4853	1967	1000000	-4327
Median	5180	2032	1000000	-4296
Mean	5240	2035	9980581	-4293
3 <sup>rd</sup> Quartile	5567	2099	1000000	-4261
Max	7424	2370	1000000	-4112

Table 4: Summary statistics for each parameter



Figure 4: Effective population size (Ne) distribution

Our  $N_e$  estimate was then compared with those for other shark populations (Table 5). Here we see that the mean effective population size for the NEP Common Thresher shark population at 5,240 is much lower than some. For example Atlantic Bullsharks, global Soupfin, North Atlanitc Greenland

sharks, and Alaska Pacific Sleeper sharks, all have  $N_e$  estimates over 90,000, with Bullsharks up to 221,000. It is most comparable to the Atlantic Blue shark and Western Atlantic Sandbar shark estimates.

Species	Location	N <sub>e</sub> Estimate	Reference
Grey Nurse	East Australia	50	Frankham et al. 2002
Grey Nurse	East Australia	126	Tallman et al. 2008
White shark	Northwest Atlantic	23-66	O'Leary et al. 2015
White shark	South Africa	188-1,998	O'Leary et al. 2015
White shark	Australia	1,512	Blower et al. 2012
Sandbar	Western Atlantic (Delaware Bay)	4,890	Portnoy et al. 2009
Sandbar	Western Atlantic (Eastern Shore)	2,709	Portnoy et al. 2009
Blue	Atlantic	4,513	Verissimo et al. 2017
Basking	Global	8,200	Hoelzel et al. 2006
Mako	Eastern Pacific	10,300	Kacev et al. in prep
Soupfin	Africa	46,808	Chabot & Allen 2009
Soupfin	United Kingdom	61,718	Chabot & Allen 2009
Soupfin	South America	63,860	Chabot & Allen 2009
Soupfin	North America	89,545	Chabot & Allen 2009
Soupfin	Global	198,296	Chabot & Allen 2009
Bullshark	South Atlantic	160,000	Karl et al. 2011
Bullshark	North Atlantic	221,000	Karl et al. 2011
Lemon sharks	Global	13-26,000	Schultz et al. 2008
Whale Shark	Global	13-26,000	Castro et al. 2007
Southern sleeper			
shark	Southern Ocean	46-33,000	Murray et al. 2018
Pacific sleeper			
shark	Taiwan	73–47,000	Murray et al. 2008
Pacific sleeper			
shark	Alaska	98–65,500	Murray et al. 2008
Greenland shark	North Atlantic	91-33,300	Murray et al. 2008

Table 5: Comparison of effective population sizes across various shark species

#### Discussion

Overall, we found evidence supporting the hypothesis that NEP Common Thresher sharks comprise one well-mixed population. Genetic diversity between loci was shown to be relatively high, while allelic richness at each locus was relatively low. Our results provide evidence that there is no population structure between the sampled sub-regions, and our sibship analyses support the assertion that there is one juvenile habitat area spanning the US/Mexico border. Estimated distribution of  $N_e$ 

suggests either a low number of breeding adults or low genetic variability among adults in the population.

Measures of genetic diversity including heterozygosity and allelic richness can be used to address conservation issues related to how genetically healthy a population may be (Caballero & Rodríguez-Ramilo 2010). Heterozygosity is the more commonly used metric for genetic diversity (Toro et al. 2009). High values for heterozygosity indicate high degree of genetic diversity or frequency of alleles across loci, whereas low heterozygosity indicates a low degree of genetic diversity and therefore reduced genetic fitness (Reed & Frankham 2003). The high mean value  $H_E=0.76$  in our results suggests there are a relatively high number of different genes across loci within the population. While high genetic diversity is a positive indication of genetic health, allelic richness showing presence of alleles at each locus can provide further information that can be used for conservation decisions (Greenbaum et al. 2014).

Allelic richness, a measure of different alleles per locus, as opposed to diversity across loci, can provide insight into whether there have been fluctuations in population size in the past (Nei et al. 1975; Luikart et al. 1998). A sharp decline in population size, or genetic bottleneck, in the past could lead to increased rates of inbreeding and loss of genetic variability, leaving the population with less evolutionary potential to adapt (Frankham 1995; Hedrick & Miller 1992). For this we want to address whether the minimal allelic richness is sufficient to retain evolutionary potential. If we consider  $A_R$ estimates from other studies, our mean  $A_R$ =0.03 is relatively low. Given that catch estimates show a significant increase in catch of Common Thresher sharks in recent decades (PFMC 2016), this could indicate that overfishing events in the 1980s and 1990s caused a genetic bottleneck potentially reducing this population's long-term evolutionary potential.

 $F_{ST}$  and  $G'_{ST}$  are metrics of genetic differentiation.  $F_{ST}$  and  $G'_{ST}$  estimates range from 1 to 0, with values at or near zero suggesting little genetic differentiation and therefore no population structure (Nei 1977). Our global estimates for  $F_{ST}$  and  $G'_{ST}$  were less than zero, indicating no evidence for population structure. Our pairwise  $F_{ST}$  and  $G'_{ST}$  estimates were not statistically significant between sub regions, further suggesting there is no evidence for differentiation across the population, and therefore no barriers to gene flow and no population structure. This provides evidence for one, well-mixed population.

Next, we looked at sibling relationships within the dataset. Given the large sample size (N=549), the results can provide insight into the size of the population (within bounds) and sibling relationships within a region or across these regions. Our results showed 487 half siblings and 3 full

siblings. Further, our results provide evidence that the US/Mexico border is not a barrier for siblings. If the border were a barrier, we would expect to see sibling pairs together on one side of the border or the other. However, we see 118 siblings that span the border. This indicates adult female sharks are contributing to juveniles on both sides of the border and supports the need for cooperative management of juvenile habitat in both the US and Mexico.

Wright (1931) defined N<sub>e</sub> as the size of a theoretically ideal population affected by genetic drift at the same rate per generation as the population being studied. The use of a theoretically ideal population standardizes this measurement of genetic drift, allowing comparisons of N<sub>e</sub> across different groups of sharks (Hare, Nunney & Schwartz 2011). Assessing the N<sub>e</sub> of a species provides an indication of both the breeding population size and of population genetic health (Frankham 1995; Portnoy et al. 2009), making it a potentially invaluable stock evaluation tool for conservation and fisheries management (Luikart et al. 1998; Reed & Frankham 2003). N<sub>e</sub> needed to maintain genetic evolutionary potential could be as high as 5,000 (Lande 1995), and according to Franklin & Frankham (1998), an N<sub>e</sub> estimate of less than 500 could be considered critically low indicating the population is at risk for loss of genetic variation. From this, our N<sub>e</sub> estimate of 5,240 would not be considered critically low. However, in comparison to estimates from other shark populations, it is relatively low. This could suggest that there are relatively few breeding adults in the population, or alternatively, it could suggest adults in this population are genetically similar and therefore there is low genetic variability. Low genetic variability can leave the population vulnerable to future pressures (Nei 1975; Franklin & Frankham 1998) like climate change or overfishing.

### Survey

In addition to the genetic analyses, I conducted a survey to explore perspectives and knowledge related to bilateral shark management and NEP Common Thresher sharks. I distributed an online questionnaire to experts in shark and highly migratory species management. The survey results are not intended for publication, but instead are a means to inform the conclusions of this paper based on trends, themes, and new insights.

#### Methods

#### Design

The 16-question survey was designed with input from my Capstone Advisory Committee (CAC). Survey design expert Professor Ayelet Gneezy was consulted during the early design phase, and three other individuals with fisheries expertise provided feedback during survey design and testing. The final survey contained four short sections:

- Section 1: "US/Mexico Bilateral Fisheries Management (General Fisheries)" contained three questions related to general fisheries management between the US and Mexico;
- Section 2: "US/Mexico Bilateral Management (Common Thresher Sharks)" asked participants to answer nine questions specific to Common Thresher shark population and juvenile habitat management in the US and Mexico;
- Section 3: "Management and Conservation Strategies" included one general shark management question, two questions related to specific conservation efforts, and one prompt to comment on bilateral management of Common Thresher sharks between the US and Mexico; and,
- Section 4: "Affiliation" asked respondents to select whether they are affiliated with Government (Gov), Fisheries Management (FM), Academia/Scientific Research (AS), Non-Governmental Organization (NGO), or Other, with an option to specify (Other).

Three types of quantitative questions were used: Likert scale, yes-no, and rating. Each question provided a space for comment, although comments were not required. While all questions required an answer to move on, each provided a "Don't know" option. A paragraph at the beginning of the survey provided some background information about the project and goals of the survey. The final version was translated into Spanish using Google Translate and edited by Dr. Dan Cartamil.

#### Data collection

The survey was distributed over the course of five weeks. An estimated 80-100 emails containing the survey link were sent to various individuals familiar with this topic within government, academia, and non-governmental organization sectors. The survey was anonymous so names or contact information were not collected. Broad affiliations could be detected based on answers in Section 4; distinctions between those who filled out the Spanish or English version; and potentially who received the survey link, although once disseminated I had no way of tracking respondents.

Quantitative results were analyzed through the Survey Monkey website, R, and Excel. Select comments were included in the analysis of results. This selection was somewhat arbitrary but duplicate and/or indirect comments were generally excluded. Comments were selected from both US and Mexico surveys, however because response rates were higher for the US, more comments are incorporated from the US than from Mexico.

#### **Results and Discussion**

Forty-five individuals completed the survey; 13 completed the Spanish version, and 32 completed the English version. Spanish responses are assumed to be submitted by individuals from Mexico and English responses are assumed to be submitted by individuals from the US (or Canada but likely only a small percentage). While input from others and preliminary testing helped minimize potential bias, unintentional sampling bias may have occurred in the form of voluntary response bias, leading questions, inherent bias in participant knowledge, and self-selection. However, responses were analyzed with these potential biases in mind; and given the purpose of the study, this should not pose a problem. Of the 45 respondents, roughly half were from the research community, one-quarter affiliated with government, 13% with an NGO, and another 13% chose "other." Various outcomes emerged from both quantitative and comment-based answers and select results are assessed here.

To understand how much is already known about Common Thresher sharks in the NEP among HMS experts, I asked general questions about US/Mexico bilateral fisheries management. Given there are in fact no bilateral fisheries agreements between the two countries, the results can shed light on how many individuals are informed of this. Roughly 50% of the total respondents said they did not know of any bilateral management currently in place, while 27% indicated there *is* currently bilateral management (Appendix Q1). Nearly all (98%) of respondents indicated they feel more action is warranted to jointly manage shared US/Mex fisheries stocks, and comments specifically suggest the need for more research infrastructure, particularly lacking in Mexico; improved data collection methods; and stronger binational agreements (Appendix Q3).

In light of our genetic analyses showing evidence for one large juvenile habitat spanning the US/Mexico border, I wanted to understand expert knowledge and opinions on this topic. Survey results showed 73% of respondents are aware that juvenile habitat exists off the Southern California coast (Appendix Q4), while 63% were aware of the juvenile habitat in Baja California (Appendix Q6). US respondents were slightly more aware of both of these habitats. A total of 76% respondents agree (strongly and somewhat) that if it is shown that juvenile Common Thresher shark habitat exists between the US and Mexico, these areas should be protected. However, comments highlight varied opinions on level and strategy for protection. One comment indicates the need for costs/benefits analyze and feasibility research before making a decision, while another (among the 7% who disagree) points to the large geographic range of habitat to suggest that specific protection for juvenile thresher shark habitat is not practical.

Overexploitation of Common Thresher sharks occurred in US waters in the 1980s and 1990s (Goldman 2000), and Teo et al. (2016) concluded that overfishing by US standards is *not* occurring today. The majority (58%) of respondents were aware that the population was subjected to overfishing in the past (Appendix Q10). However, 25% indicated they thought the population is currently subject to overfishing and about 33% stated they did not know if overfishing was occurring now. Both US and Mexico responses reflect these percentages. While some were aware, this suggests a potential gap in awareness about the population status among both US and Mexico experts. Further, only about half (48%) of respondents knew of the recent stock assessment of Common Thresher sharks published by NOAA in 2016 (Appendix Q9).

When asked if they felt the current level of protection for Common Thresher sharks in the Northeastern Pacific is sufficient, few strongly agreed or strongly disagreed, potentially indicating hesitance to either support or contest efforts to establish a binational plan for this stock. Comments on this question varied but common threads included the need for ongoing collaborative research, consideration for economic and social issues related to fisheries particularly on the Mexican side, and overcoming political barriers to management. Figure 5 shows words frequently used among these comments, further highlighting research, data, and bilateral efforts. The overall results including quantitative trends and insight from comments suggests that data and information about this population is generally more available in the US than in Mexico, but that there are gaps in knowledge among experts from both sides; that there are existing research partnerships between the US and Mexico that should be further supported; and that joint protections for Common Thresher shark juvenile habitat should be considered.



Figure 5: Word cloud generated from Question 15 comments, using www.wordclouds.com.

## **Management and Future Research Implications**

Overall trends from the survey are clear: more should be done to successfully manage shared fisheries resources between the US and Mexico (98% of respondents agree). Specifically, there is the need for:

- More accessible information;
- Research infrastructure, particularly in Mexico;
- Stronger bilateral agreements;
- Continuation and strengthening of existing partnerships particularly in the academic/science world;
- Juvenile shark habitat protections, if it is shown that juvenile Common Thresher shark habitat exists between the US and Mexico (76% respondents agree);
- Pursue practical population-specific management.

Commenters also touched on the need to consider economic and social issues related to fisheries, particularly on the Mexican side; and resource disparities between stakeholders and jurisdictions.

## **Conclusion**

Results from this project validate the need for cooperative, bilateral management of NEP Common Thresher shark. Findings from the genetic analyses show evidence of one, panmictic population with juvenile habitat spanning across the US/Mexico border, and a low number of breeding adults or low genetic variability. Outcomes from the survey provide insights into potential limitations and challenges to bilateral management, but offered encouraging trends.

This study underscores how genetic population research can complement other sources of information such as tagging studies and fisheries catch data for a more complete picture of population health. Further the use of fisheries data in this study promotes research collaborations across academia and fisheries.

The NEP Common Thresher shark is considered to be well managed compared to other Common Thresher shark populations around the world (Teo et al. 2016). However, ongoing efforts to achieve more efficient bilateral management between the US and Mexico are needed. Coastal-pelagic species that traverse political boundaries, and that comprise geographically different populations in various parts of world, need to be managed regionally and bi- or multi-nationally. While there are productive collaborations between US/Mexico scientific institutions (particularly between SIO, NOAA SWFSC, and the Ensenada Center for Scientific Research and Higher Education), efforts to collaborate through MEXUS, and information sharing through the Inter-American Tropical Tuna Commission, there are currently no fisheries binational management measures between the US and Mexico.

#### Recommendations

The following recommendations are based on the outcomes of this study, in regard to the ongoing management and conservation of the NEP Common Thresher shark, and the science that informs it:

- Continuation and strengthening of existing US/Mexico partnerships within the academic/science community
  - Overcome political obstacles to joint management through strong scientific collaborations; US fisheries managers prioritizing science-based management and seeking data from Mexico may provide opportunity for binational studies that can stimulate binational management
  - Prioritize HMS shark research;

- Take into account and highlight successes to encourage participation and interest in conservation.
- Cost-effective data sharing and research infrastructure
  - Distribute the responsibility of bringing the data into the fold and collaborating across diverse resource levels; e.g., through an interdisciplinary consortium;
  - Seek practical but creative solutions to data sharing; e.g., online sharing tools;
  - There is a need for a streamlined, mutually accessible data system in which stock assessments can be generated based on both US and Mexican fisheries and scientific data.
- Prioritize improvement to fisheries reporting in Baja
  - More education may be needed to ensure species can be properly identified;
  - Reporting methods should be improved.
- Monitor and consider future protections for sensitive shark juvenile habitat in Baja
  - While the most recent Common Thresher shark assessment asserts that catch of this stock is sustainable (Teo et al. 2016), many Baja elasmobranch fisheries have historically not been sustainable (Walker 1998), and catch is mainly comprised of juveniles in these areas (Cartamil et al., 2011);
  - Conduct a cost/benefit analysis for insight into how similar seasonal area closures to those currently instituted in the US would impact Baja shark fisheries

## Acknowledgments

A sincere thank you to my Capstone Advisory Committee (Dr. Dovi Kacev, NOAA; Dr. Daniel Cartamil, SIO; Dr. Phil Hastings, SIO; and Dr. Andy Nosal, SIO) who provided invaluable support and guidance as I navigated this project. A special thank you to my Advisory Chair, Dr. Dovi Kacev, whose generosity of time and knowledge throughout this year allowed me to learn more than I could have hoped. I could not have asked for a better mentor and teacher. Thank you to the CMBC staff and program chairs, my course professors, fellow classmates, and friends and family, for all of their support. I would also like to express my appreciation for their assistance at various junctures: My Student Mentor, Lynn Waterhouse, SIO; Professor Ayelet Gneezy, UCSD; Dr. Steve Teo, NOAA; Dr. Oscar Sosa et al.; All survey participants. Any findings, conclusions, or recommendations expressed in this material are meant for the purposes of a master's student capstone project.

## References

Ahonen, H., Harcourt, R. G., & Stow, A. J. (2009). Nuclear and mitochondrial DNA reveals isolation of imperilled grey nurse shark populations (*Carcharias taurus*). *Molecular Ecology*, 18(21), 4409-4421.

Archer, F. I., Adams, P. E. and Schneiders, B. B. (2016) strataG: An R package for manipulating, summarizing and analysing population genetic data. *Mol Ecol Resour*. <<u>doi:10.1111/1755-0998.12559</u>>

Bedford, D.W. (1992) Thresher Shark. In: California's living marine resources and their utilization. (Eds. W.S. Leet, C.M. Dewees, C.W. Haugen), California Sea Grant Publication UCSGEP-92-12., pp. 49- 51.

Blower, D. C., Pandolfi, J. M., Bruce, B. D., Gomez-Cabrera, M. D. C., & Ovenden, J. R. (2012). Population genetics of Australian white sharks reveals fine-scale spatial structure, transoceanic dispersal events and low effective population sizes. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 455, 229-244.

Caballero, A., & Rodríguez-Ramilo, S. T. (2010). A new method for the partition of allelic diversity within and between subpopulations. *Conservation genetics*, 11(6), 2219-2229.

Caddy, J. F., & Seijo, J. C. (2005). This is more difficult than we thought! The responsibility of scientists, managers and stakeholders to mitigate the unsustainability of marine fisheries. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences*, *360*(1453), 59-75.

California Department of Fish and Game (CDFG). (2010). Status of the Fisheries Report an Update Through 2008. Prepared by California Department of Fish and Game Marine Region.

Cartamil, D., Wegner, N. C., Kacev, D., Ben-Aderet, N., Kohin, S., & Graham, J. B. (2010). Movement patterns and nursery habitat of juvenile thresher sharks *Alopias vulpinus* in the Southern California Bight. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 404, 249-258.

Cartamil, D., Wegner, N. C., Aalbers, S., Sepulveda, C. A., Baquero, A., & Graham, J. B. (2010). Diel movement patterns and habitat preferences of the common thresher shark (*Alopias vulpinus*) in the Southern California Bight. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 61(5), 596-604.

Cartamil, D., Santana-Morales, O., Escobedo-Olvera, M., Kacev, D., Castillo-Geniz, L., Graham, J. B., ... & Sosa-Nishizaki, O. (2011). The artisanal elasmobranch fishery of the Pacific coast of Baja California, Mexico. *Fisheries Research*, *108*(2), 393-403.

Chabot, C. L., & Allen, L. G. (2009). Global population structure of the tope (Galeorhinus galeus) inferred by mitochondrial control region sequence data. *Molecular Ecology*, *18*(3), 545-552.

Chapman DD, Prodohl PA, Gelsleichter J, Manire CA, Shivji MS (2004) Predominance of genetic monogamy by females in a hammerhead shark, *Sphyrna tiburo*: implications for shark conservation. *Molecular Ecology* 13: 1965–1974.

CITES. (2016). CONSIDERATION OF PROPOSALS FOR AMENDMENT OF APPENDICES I AND II. https://cites.org/sites/default/files/eng/cop/17/prop/060216/E-CoP17-Prop-43.pdf

Compagno, L. J. (2001). Sharks of the world: an annotated and illustrated catalogue of shark species known to date (Vol. 2, No. 1). Food & Agriculture Org..

Daly-Engel, T. S., Seraphin, K. D., Holland, K. N., Coffey, J. P., Nance, H. A., Toonen, R. J., & Bowen, B. W. (2012). Global phylogeography with mixed-marker analysis reveals male-mediated dispersal in the endangered scalloped hammerhead shark (*Sphyrna lewini*). *PLoS One*, 7(1), e29986.

Dudgeon CL, Feldheim K, Schick M, Ovenden JR (2006) Polymorphic microsatellite loci for the zebra shark *Stegostoma fasciatum*. *Molecular Ecology Notes* 6: 1086–1088.

Dulvy, N. K., Fowler, S. L., Musick, J. A., Cavanagh, R. D., Kyne, P. M., Harrison, L. R., ... & Pollock, C. M. (2014). Extinction risk and conservation of the world's sharks and rays. *Elife*, *3*, e00590.

Feldheim KA, Gruber SH, Ashley MV (2001) Multiple paternity of a lemon shark litter (*Chondrichthyes : Carcharhinidae*). Copeia. pp 781–786.

Feldheim KA, Stow AJ, Ahonen H, Chapman DD, Shivji M, et al. (2007) Polymorphic microsatellite markers for studies of the conservation and reproductive genetics of imperilled sand tiger sharks (*Carcharias taurus*). *Molecular Ecology Notes* 7: 1366–1368.

Frankham, R. (1995). Effective population-size adult-population size ratios in wildlife – a review. *Genetical Research* 66, 95–107.

Frankham R, Ballou JD, Briscoe DA (2002) Introduction to Conservation Genetics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.

Franklin, I. R., & Frankham, R. (1998). How large must populations be to retain evolutionary potential?. *Animal Conservation*, 1(01), 69-70.

Goldman, K. J. (2000). Common thresher shark Alopias vulpinus (Bonnaterre, 1788). *Sharks, Rays and Chimaeras: The Status of the Chondrichthyan Fishes. IUCN SSC Shark Specialist Group, IUCN, Gland and Cambridge*, 50-52.

Greenbaum, G., Templeton, A. R., Zarmi, Y., & Bar-David, S. (2014). Allelic richness following population founding events–A Stochastic modeling framework incorporating gene flow and genetic drift. *PloS one*, 9(12), e115203.

Hanan, D. A., Holts, D. B., & Coan, A. L. (1993). *The California drift gill net fishery for sharks and swordfish*, 1981-82 through 1990-91 (Vol. 175). State of California, Resources Agency, Department of Fish and Game.

Hare MP, Nunney L, Schwartz MK et al (2011) Understanding and estimating effective population size for practical application in marine species management. *Conserv Biol* 25:438–449

Hedrick, P. W., & Miller, P. S. (1992). Conservation genetics: techniques and fundamentals. *Ecological Applications*, 2(1), 30-46.

Hedrick, P. W. (1999). Perspective: highly variable loci and their interpretation in evolution and conservation. *Evolution*, 313-318.

Heist EJ, Jenkot JL, Keeney DB, Lane RL, Moyer GR, et al. (2003) Isolation and characterization of polymorphic microsatellite loci in nurse shark (*Ginglymostoma cirratum*). *Molecular Ecology Notes* 3: 59–61.

Hoelzel, A. R., Shivji, M. S., Magnussen, J., & Francis, M. P. (2006). Low worldwide genetic diversity in the basking shark (Cetorhinus maximus). *Biology Letters*, 2(4), 639-642.

Holden, M. J. 1974. Problems in the rational exploitation of elasmobranch populations and some suggested solutions, p. 117-137. In: *Sea fisheries research*. F. R. Harden (ed.). Paul Elek Ltd., London.

Hubbell G (1996) Using tooth structure to determine the evolutionary history of the white shark. In: Klimley A, Ainley D, editors. Great white sharks: the biology of *Carcharodon carcharias*. San Diego: Academic Press. pp. 9–18.G.

Hui, T. Y. J., & Burt, A. (2015). Estimating effective population size from temporally spaced samples with a novel, efficient maximum-likelihood algorithm. *Genetics*, 200(1), 285-293.

Karl, S. A., Castro, A. L. F., Lopez, J. A., Charvet, P., & Burgess, G. H. (2011). Phylogeography and conservation of the bull shark (Carcharhinus leucas) inferred from mitochondrial and microsatellite DNA. *Conservation Genetics*, *12*(2), 371-382.

Keeney DB, Heupel MR, Hueter RE, Heist EJ (2005) Microsatellite and mitochondrial DNA analyses of the genetic structure of blacktip shark (*Carcharhinus limbatus*) nurseries in the northwestern Atlantic, Gulf of Mexico, and Caribbean Sea. *Molecular Ecology* 14: 1911–1923.

Lande, R., & Barrowclough, G. F. (1987). Effective population size, genetic variation, and their use in population management. *Viable populations for conservation*, 87, 124.

Lande, R. (1995) Mutation and conservation. Conserv Biol 9:782-791

Luikart, G., Sherwin, W. B., Steele, B. M. & Allendorf, F. W. (1998). Usefulness of molecular markers for detecting population bottlenecks via monitoring genetic change. *Molecular Ecology* 7, 963–974.

Marine Resources Protection Act of 1990 (MRPA), California Constitution Article 10B

McCauley L, Goecker C, Parker P, Rudolph T, Goetz F, et al. (2004) Characterization and isolation of DNA microsatellite primers in the spiny dogfish (*Squalus acanthias*). *Molecular Ecology Notes* 4: 494–496.

McClenachan, L., Cooper, A. B., Carpenter, K. E., & Dulvy, N. K. (2012). Extinction risk and bottlenecks in the conservation of charismatic marine species. *Conservation Letters*, 5(1), 73-80.

Moreno, J.A., Parajua, J.I., Moron, J. (1989) Biologia reproductiva y fenologia de Alopias vulpinus (Bonnaterre, 1788) (Squaliformes: Alopiidae) en el Atlantico nor-oriental y Mediterraneo occidental. Scient. Mar. 53, 37-46.

MSA. ACT, A. (1996). Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act. Public Law, 94, 265.

Murray, B. W., Wang, J. Y., Yang, S. C., Stevens, J. D., Fisk, A., & Svavarsson, J. (2008). Mitochondrial cytochrome b variation in sleeper sharks (Squaliformes: Somniosidae). *Marine Biology*, 153(6), 1015-1022.

Nei, M., Maruyama, T., & Chakraborty, R. (1975). The bottleneck effect and genetic variability in populations. *Evolution*, 1-10.

Nei, M. (1977). F-statistics and analysis of gene diversity in subdivided populations. *Annals of human genetics*, 41(2), 225-233.

NMFS. (2016). Endangered and Threatened Wildlife and Plants; Notice of 12-Month Finding on Petitions to List the Common Thresher Shark and Bigeye Thresher Shark as Threatened or Endangered Under the Endangered Species Act (ESA) 81 FR 18979. 18979-19011 (33 pages) https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2016-04-01/pdf/2016-07440.pdf

O'Leary, S. J., Feldheim, K. A., Fields, A. T., Natanson, L. J., Wintner, S., Hussey, N., ... & Chapman, D. D. (2015). Genetic diversity of white sharks, *Carcharodon carcharias*, in the Northwest Atlantic and southern Africa. *Journal of Heredity*, 106(3), 258-265.

Ovenden JR, Street R, Broderick D (2006) New microsatellite loci for Carcharhinid sharks (*Carcharhinus tilstoni and C-sorrah*) and their crossamplification in other shark species. *Molecular Ecology Notes* 6: 415–418.

Pardini AT, Jones CS, Scholl MC, Noble LR (2000) Isolation and characterization of dinucleotide microsatellite loci in the Great White Shark, *Carcharodon carcharias*. *Molecular Ecology* 9: 1176–1178.

PFMC (Pacific Fishery Management Council) (2003) Fishery management plan and environmental impact statement for US west coast highly migratory species. Pacific Fishery Management Council, Portland, OR

PFMC. (2016) Status of the U.S. West Coast Fisheries for Highly Migratory Species through 2014. Stock Assessment and Fishery Evaluation. http://www.pcouncil.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/2015-HMS-SAFE-Report-archive-copy.pdf

Portnoy DS, Mcdowell JR, Thompson K, Musick JA, Graves JE (2006) Isolation and characterization of five dinucleotide microsatellite loci in the sandbar shark, *Carcharhinus plumbeus*. *Molecular Ecology* Notes 6: 431–433.

Reed DH, Frankham R (2003) Correlation between fitness and genetic diversity. Conserv Biol 17:230-237

Schmidt, J. V., Schmidt, C. L., Ozer, F., Ernst, R. E., Feldheim, K. A., Ashley, M. V., & Levine, M. (2009). Low genetic differentiation across three major ocean populations of the whale shark, Rhincodon typus. *PloS* one, 4(4), e4988.

Schrey AW, Heist EJ (2002) Microsatellite markers for the shortfin mako and cross-species amplification in lamniformes. *Conservation Genetics* 3: 459–461.

Schultz, J. K., Feldheim, K. A., Gruber, S. H., Ashley, M. V., McGovern, T. M., & Bowen, B. W. (2008). Global phylogeography and seascape genetics of the lemon sharks (genus Negaprion). *Molecular Ecology*, 17(24), 5336-5348.

Smith SE, Au DW, Show C (1998) Intrinsic rebound potentials of 26 species of Pacific sharks. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 49, 663–678.

Smith, S. E., Rasmussen, R. C., Ramon, D. A., & Cailliet, G. M. (2008). The biology and ecology of thresher sharks (Alopiidae). *Sharks of the Open Ocean: Biology, Fisheries and Conservation*, 60-68.

Stevens, J. D., Bonfil, R., Dulvy, N. K., & Walker, P. A. (2000). The effects of fishing on sharks, rays, and chimaeras (chondrichthyans), and the implications for marine ecosystems. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*: Journal du Conseil, 57(3), 476-494.

Teo, S. L., Rodriguez, E. G., & Sosa-Nishizaki, O. (2016). Status of Common Thresher Sharks, Alopias Vulpinus, Along the West Coast of North America.

Toro, M. A., Fernández, J., & Caballero, A. (2009). Molecular characterization of breeds and its use in conservation. *Livestock Science*, 120(3), 174-195.

Trejo, T. (2005) Global phylogeography of thresher sharks (Alopias spp.) inferred from mitochondrial control region sequences. Master of Science, California State University Monterey Bay, 65 pages.

Veríssimo, A., Sampaio, Í., McDowell, J. R., Alexandrino, P., Mucientes, G., Queiroz, N., ... & Noble, L. R. (2017). World without borders—genetic population structure of a highly migratory marine predator, the blue shark (*Prionace glauca*). *Ecology and Evolution*.

Walker, T.I., 1998. Can shark resources be harvested sustainably? A question revisited with a review of shark fisheries. Mar. *Freshwater Res.* 49, 553–572.

Waples, R. S. (1989). A generalized approach for estimating effective population size from temporal changes in allele frequency. *Genetics*, *121*(2), 379-391.

Wright, S. (1931). Evolution in Mendelian populations. Genetics, 16(2), 97-159.

Young, C.N., Carlson, J., Hutchinson, M., Kobayashi, D., McCandless, C., Miller, M.H., Teo, S., and T. Warren. (2016). Status review report: common thresher shark (*Alopias vulpinus*) and bigeye thresher shark (*Alopias superciliosus*). Final Report to National Marine Fisheries Service, Office of Protected Resources. March 2016. 199 pp.

# Appendix

Survey: Quantitative results and select comments by questions (Q1-16)

**Q1:** To the extent that you know, there currently exists binational fisheries management between the US and Mexico.

Quantitative results:

	Yes	No	Don't know
US Results	31.3% (10)	53.1% (17)	15.6% (5)
Mexico Results	15.4% (2)	46.2% (6)	38.5% (5)
Combined US/Mexico Results	26.7% (12)	51.1% (23)	22.2% (10)

## Results per affiliation:

	Yes	No	Don't know
US Government	28.6% (2)	37.5% (6)	0.0% (0)
US Science/Academia	42.9% (3)	25.0% (4)	80.0% (4)
US NGO	14.2% (1)	18.8% (3)	0.0% (0)
US Other	14.2% (1)	12.5% (2)	20.0% (1)
Mexico Government	0.0% (0)	60.0% (3)	0.0% (0)
Mexico Science/Academia	50.0% (1)	40.0% (2)	100.0% (4)
Mexico NGO	50.0% (1)	0.0% (0)	0.0% (0)
Mexico Other	0.0% (0)	0.0% (0)	0.0% (0)

Answer	Affiliations	Comment
No	US/AS	My understanding is that there is very little coordination between Mexico
		and U.S. along the west coast regarding any fisheries.
No	US/AS	There is cooperation between US and Mexican entities, but not a
		binational agreement.
No	US/Gov	US and Mexico fisheries officials meet regularly to discuss bilateral
		fisheries interests. However, in my opinion these discussions are
		currently insufficient for fisheries management. For example, I don't
		believe joint stock-wide assessments are done for shared fisheries
		resources. There are also multilateral arrangements, such as the Inter-
		American Tropical Tuna Commission, but its issues span the entire
		eastern Pacific and issues of wider interest than the US and Mexico.
No	US/Gov	The domestic regulation is not coordinated between the two countries.
		There are some general international measures (Inter-American Tropical
		Tina Commission), not specific to threshers, that apply generally to
		sharks encountered in tuna fisheries. The laws of both countries should
		implement those, but beyond that I am not aware of any coordinated
		management.
No	US/Gov	There are attempts. There is MEXUS. But I don't think it can be called a
		binational fisheries management
Don't	Mex/AS	I think there are gaps and agreements between the fishing sector and
know		academia. It should be sought to implement a greater dissemination of the

		activities of the Mexican institutions responsible for protecting natural marine resources, inform fishermen, researchers and interested and / or affected individuals.
Don't	Mex/AS	I come from a family of marine fish taxidermists and I do not remember a
know		single binational agreement to stop their capture in sport or export as
		trophies for the USA or the rest of the world.
No	Mex/Gov	Fisheries that involve some fishing resources that share Mexico with
		other nations like the U.S. Are only carried out within the so-called
		Regional Fishery Management Organizations (RFMOs) such as the
		IATTC and the ISC. The management recommendations emanating from
		these RFMOs are applied in Mexican fisheries. It is not my
		understanding that there are joint fisheries management agreements or
		programs between the U.S. And Mexico.

**Q2:** Fisheries management efforts between the US and Mexico are successful in managing intended fish populations.

Quantitative results:

	Strongly	Somewhat	Neutral	Somewhat	Strongly
	agree	agree		disagree	disagree
US Results	0.0% (0)	18.8% (6)	37.5% (12)	28.1% (9)	15.6% (5)
Mexico Results	7.7% (1)	30.8% (4)	30.8% (4)	23.1% (3)	7.7% (1)



### Combined US/Mexico Results

Answer	Affiliations	Comment
--------	--------------	---------

Somewhat	US/AS	The recreational fishery is not well managed as many US boats exploit		
disagree		Mexican stocks and in some cases exploit the Mexican stocks more than		
		the Mexicans (US win, Mexico lose)		
Neutral	US/Gov	The answer to this question probably depends on the populations at		
		issue and how you define success. It would be		
		useful for the US and Mexico to have more dedicated discussions to		
		define stocks of common interest, data needs and		
		management objectives, but to my knowledge bilateral fisheries		
		discussions are more ad hoc and don't get into these		
		issues systematically.		
Somewhat	Mex/AS	Most efforts do not go beyond the desk, unless they represent a		
agree		restrictive measure of trade. Totoaba Case, Tuna-Dolphin; Trawl bed.		
Somewhat	Mex/NGO	The economic needs and therefore fishing between the two countries are		
agree		very distant, so that the management measures cannot always be		
		homogenized.		

**Q3:** In your opinion, more could be done to successfully manage shared fisheries resources between the US and Mexico.

Quantitative results:

	Yes	No	Don't know
US Results	97.0% (31)	0.0% (0)	3.0% (1)
Mexico Results	100.0% (0)	0.0% (0)	0.0% (0)

## Combined US/Mexico Results



	Answer A	Affiliations	Comment
--	----------	--------------	---------

Yes	US/AS	Better agreements between the countries in which Mexico gains more from the collaborations. At present it appears (from the outside at least) that the money Mexico makes from binational agreements benefits very few people (high-end managers / government) and does not account for social well-being of local Mexicans that could be part of the money- making
Yes	US/Gov	So much more could be done but I think the political situation in Mexico doesn't allow much space for serious collaboration. It's unfortunate because Mexico has great scientists and people who really believe in working together.
Yes	US/NGO	Gill nets are having a serious impact on untargeted species.
Yes	US/Gov	There is a lot we don't know. Improving data collection (both fisheries dependent and fisheries independent) and data sharing would be a good first step toward eventually conducting joint assessments and defining shared management objectives.
Yes	US/AS	A more accurate assessment of MX catch rates is needed for improved management
Yes	Mex/AS	I am fully convinced that in the case of action, both from the various points of attention (scientific, academic, industrial, social, governmental, etc.) by the two nations, can lead to good administration. As long as each party delineates its capabilities, benefits, purposes, sponsored under an agreement and follow-up on both sides.
Yes	Mex/Gov	Mexico has for more than 10 years a number of measures and fisheries regulations that apply to directed and non-directed fisheries for sharks and rays in the Pacific. Among the measures that may be helping the population of Alopias vulpinus is the elimination since 2009 of the use of driftnets in medium height vessels and a total ban of 90 days during summer. However, I believe that there are spaces of binational cooperation, fundamentally in the subject of fisheries research applied to management. U.S.A. Have a greater and better research infrastructure that can greatly help improve the quality of Mexican fisheries research, age and growth studies, migration patterns such as conventional and electronic tagging, habitat use studies, trophic ecology studies, among others.
Yes	Mex/AS	Yes, in the case of common thresher may be a binational management could give more reasonable results for a robust management approach.

**Q4:** To the extent that you know, there is juvenile Common Thresher shark habitat located off of Southern California.

## Quantitative results:

	Yes	No	Don't know
US Results	84.0% (26)	3.0% (1)	13.0% (4)
Mexico Results	46.0% (6)	0.0% (0)	54.0% (7)

### Combined US/Mexico Results



#### Select comments:

Answer	Affiliations	Comment
Yes	US/Other	Yes, juvenile, Thresher sharks are found throughout the year from Punta
		Eugenia throughout the Southern California bight
Yes	US/AS	I would assume yes, but have no evidence.
Yes	US/Gov	The HMS Fishery Management Plan has management measures with the explicit purpose of protecting juvenile Common Thresher shark habitat.
Yes	Mex/AS	Yes, in certain coastal areas
Yes	Mex/NGO	In my experience, there are areas in Baja California, mainly on the threshold of the continental slope or areas of thermal brakes where fox sharks are usually added. Detecting these areas through satellite imagery is a strategy that Mexico's fishing fleet uses.

**Q5:** (If answered 'Yes' to Question 4) This juvenile Common Thresher shark habitat is considered when establishing management goals for Northeastern Pacific Common Thresher shark population.

 Quantitative results:

 Yes
 No
 Don't know

 US Results
 42.3% (11)
 11.5% (3)
 46.2% (12)

 Mexico Results
 16.7% (1)
 33.3% (2)
 50.0% (3)

## Combined US/Mexico Results



## Select comments:

Answer	Affiliations	Comment
No	US/Other	I do not believe so, further the extent of juvenile harvest is somewhat minimal compared to previous exploitation on larger individuals in the DGN fishery
No	Mex/Gov	I believe that the management measures of Mexico protect to some extent this zone of juveniles of A. vulpinus. A stock assessment of Alopias vulpinus between NMFS and CICESE (binational) presented + or evidences that the population of this species has not been overexploited.

**Q6:** To the extent that you know, there is juvenile Common Thresher shark habitat located off of Baja California, Mexico.

Quantitative results:

	Yes	No	Don't know
US Results	71.0% (22)	0.0% (0)	29.0% (9)
Mexico Results	42.0% (5)	0.0% (0)	58.0% (7)

Combined US/Mexico Results



Answer	Affiliations	Comment
Yes	US/AS	I would assume yes, but have no evidence.
Yes	US/AS	I assume so as I know that some local recreational boats have landed
		sharks in Mexican waters, just south of the border
Yes	Mex/Gov	Probably based on the information that has been published. But I think
		that more data is needed in order to define breeding areas for this species.
Yes	Mex/AS	Even there is not a binational management, we assessed the population recently with a binational team using information from both sides of the
		border

**Q7:** (If answered 'Yes' to Question 6) This juvenile Common Thresher shark habitat is considered when establishing management goals for the Northeastern Pacific Common Thresher shark population. Ouantitative results:

	Yes	No	Don't know
US Results	22.7% (5)	13.6% (3)	63.6% (14)
Mexico Results	20.0% (1)	40.0% (2)	40.0% (2)

#### Combined US/Mexico Results



Select comments:

Answer	Affiliations	Comment
No	Mex/AS	Not if no one has located their areas of reproduction much less the
		distribution
No	Mex/Gov	In a very personal opinion, I consider that it is not necessary at present to
		establish a binational fishing management program for this species, as
		mentioned in previous questions. I believe that further joint fisheries
		research should be developed and more training provided to Mexican
		scientists. I think that's the way to go.

**Q8:** If it is shown that juvenile Common Thresher shark habitat exists along the California and Baja Mexico coasts, these areas should be protected.

Quantitative results:

	Strongly	Somewhat	Neutral	Somewhat	Strongly
	agree	agree		disagree	disagree
US Results	30.0% (9)	43.0% (13)	17.0% (5)	7.0% (2)	3.0% (1)
Mexico Results	41.7% (5)	41.7% (5)	16.7% (2)	0.0% (0)	0.0% (0)

## Combined US/Mexico Results



Answer	Affiliations	Comment
Somewhat	US/AS	Thresher shark habitat encompasses a large geographic area; it would
disagree		not be practical to designate specific protection for juvenile thresher
		shark habitat areas.
Somewhat	US/Gov	They should be properly managed. Protected suggests a closure which
agree		would not be warranted given the status of the population

Somewhat	US/Other	Single species management is always a bit tricky. If they are common
agree		juvenile habitat for other sharks species or for some other benefit,
		maybe that is an easier sell, but establishing a time-area closure for a
		species like Threshers could be a touch slog. Should there be some
		protection? Probably, but the critical question is what type of protection
		can be both effective and politically viable.
Neutral	US/Gov	I would agree with this statement if the status of the stock indicates
		some protection / management action is warranted. Assuming
		management actions are needed, a suite of potential measures should be
		considered to
		determine which are most likely to result in the desired effects,
		including an evaluation of costs and benefits of each, political barriers,
		feasibility, etc.
Strongly	Mex/AS	If I fully agree, but I also agree to ensure proper management in the
agree		areas of exploitation. Curious case and similar is the gray whale.
Somewhat	Mex/Gov	In my opinion there is already a degree of protection to these juveniles
agree		of A. vulpinus. My opinion is to do more research to prove if these
		measures are sufficient on the Mexican side. In my opinion fishing
		mortality is limited and only to artisanal fishing, which with the 3-
		month ban has been reduced further.

**Q9:** To the extent that you know, a stock assessment of Northeastern Pacific Common Thresher sharks has been completed to date.

Quantitative results:

	Yes	No	Don't know
US Results	50.0% (15)	13.3% (4)	36.7% (11)
Mexico Results	41.7% (5)	25.0% (3)	33.3% (4)





Select comments:

Answer	Affiliations	Comment
Yes	US/Other	Yes, I do not believe that it is complete, however there was a working
		group effort focused on the common thresher
		shark that entailed collaborators from Mexico and the Southwest Center
Yes	US/AS	Pretty sure it has, but I think the results were ambiguous due to lack of
		trend data.
Yes	Mex/AS	I was part of the assessment team, and the population seems to be in a
		stable and good level.
Yes	Mex/Gov	A year or two, 2015-2016, the Southwest Fisheries Science Center of La
		Jolla of NOAA and CICESE conducted a stock assessment. I know the
		report of the same that was published.

**Q10:** (If answered 'Yes' to Question 9) In this stock assessment, Common Thresher sharks were found to be <u>historically</u> overfished.

Quantitative results:

	Yes, and	Yes, and	No	Don't know
	overfishing is	overfishing		
	still occurring	in no longer		
		occurring		
US Results	21.4% (3)	57.1% (8)	7.1% (1)	14.3% (2)
Mexico Results	20.0% (1)	40.0% (2)	20.0% (1)	20.0% (1)



## Combined US/Mexico Results

Answer Affiliations Comment
-----------------------------

Yes, and overfishing in no longer occurring	US/Gov	The Kobe plot in the assessment documents a period of overfishing in the late-1970s through the 1980s which led to a historic period when the stock was overfished. However, subsequent reductions in fishing pressure have resulted in rebuilding of the stock.
Yes, and overfishing in no longer occurring	US/Other	I believe it was somewhat well excepted that heavy exploitation in the 1980s coupled with fishing on pregnant females led to a decline in the population.
Yes, and overfishing in no longer occurring	US/Gov	They were overfished at a point but are currently far from being in an overfished state

**Q11:** To the extent that you know, Common Thresher sharks in the Northeastern Pacific are <u>historically</u> overfished.

Quantitative results:

	Yes	No	Don't know
US Results	57.1% (16)	17.9% (5)	25.0% (7)
Mexico Results	58.0% (7)	17.0% (2)	25.0% (3)

## Combined US/Mexico Results



Answer	Affiliations	Comment
No	US/AS	I am under the impression, through hearsay (generally) that the
		Thresher shark fishery is one of the few sustainable shark fisheries -
		this is based on no real evidence other than what I have heard.

Yes	Mex/AS	We are currently analyzing the fishery in southern Mexico, off the
		coast of Chiapas. Records over a decade, despite not being the
		common fox shark but a related species, show a drastic decrease in
		its population. In addition it is reflected in the fishing effort, of the
		same area, invested in its capture.
Yes	Mex/NGO	They were over-exploited while the driftnet in Mexico was
		authorized. This fishing earring has been banned for several years
		now and I would expect the fox shark population to be rapidly
		recovering. There are still catches of this species during artisanal
		fishing activities, but these catches are not significant compared to
		the ones that driftnet fishing was doing.

**Q12:** To the extent that you know, Common Thresher sharks in the Northeastern Pacific are <u>currently</u> subject to overfishing.

Quantitative results:

	Yes	No	Don't know
US Results	25.0% (7)	42.9% (12)	32.1% (9)
Mexico Results	25.0% (3)	41.7% (5)	33.3% (4)



## Combined US/Mexico Results

Answer	Affiliations	Comment
Yes	US/Gov	They say no, but I think the population is not rebounding how they
		say. We don't have complete info.
No	US/Gov	I don't believe they are currently subject to overfishing.
Don't	Mex/AS	At present, they must inform us about the current state and health of
know		the populations, not only in regions. Globally.

**Q13:** Rate the effectiveness of the following strategies as they pertain to conservation of sharks in general,1 being not effective and 5 being very effective:



Combined US/Mexico Results

Quantitative results:

Affiliations	Comment
US/Other	I don't think that the way this question is worded is useful. These strategies can work well in
	theory, but occur in complex social-ecological contexts that heavily influence their success.
	So, I'm not comfortable giving a blanket response for each. My answer for each would be "it
	depends."
US/Gov	So much more could be done but I think the political situation in Mexico doesn't allow much
	space for serious collaboration. It's unfortunate because Mexico has great scientists and people
	who really believe in working together.
Mex/AS	With regard to Mexico, it is necessary to clarify and collate previous measures and policies. In
	order to be able to compare the results, in case of being favorable and unsuccessful, to follow
	or modify. However, the poor implementation of policies and regulations in Mexico on the
	extraction and exploitation of chondrichthyos is notorious. Issues of marine regionalization,
	ecology and species biology should be addressed for appropriate legislation.
Mex/Gov	The best means of fishing management in sharks, in my opinion, are the restrictions on fishing
	equipment and the temporary closure of fishing zones and seasons. Measures that restrict the
	marketing of fishery resources in a country like Mexico, with little surveillance and high
	corruption, are not very effective.
Mex/AS	In Mexico we have a season ban of shark fishing during May 1st to July 31 in whole Pacific
	coast. We do not need to prohibit finning because we eat all sharks meat. In Mexico the whole

	shark is used, so to sell fins is the common. We have a 100% ban for certain species as white
	shark, whale shark and basking shark.
Mex/NGO	In the case of shark fins, those of thresher shark are those that have less economic value or
	rather, they are the ones of lower quality; This because they have almost no cartilaginous
	fibers used for the fin soup. For this reason, neither the prohibition of fins or the banning of
	the commercialization of their fins could have an effect on the conservation of this species.
	The economic value of this species is meat but only if it is fresh or if it has just been caught,
	which is unfeasible in artisanal fishing; However when this species is caught by the long liners
	commercial fleet, it is when its value is high because it does not last more than 6 hours in the
	water after being captured and after being cleaned (remove flies and fins) Is trimmed and
	stored.

**Q14:** Are you aware of the recent CITES listing of Bigeye Thresher sharks, and subsequently Common Thresher sharks, under Appendix II?

Quantitative results:



Combined	US/Mexico	Results	by	Affiliation

	Yes, and I	Yes, and I do	Yes, and I	No, but I	No, and I	No, and I don't
	support the	not support	don't know	would	would not	know if I
	listing	the listing	if I support	support	support	would support
	_	_	the listing	the listing	the listing	the listing
Government	0.0% (0)	60.0% (6)	66.6% (2)	12.5% (1)	0.0% (0)	25.0% (2)
Science/Academia	77.8% (7)	30.0% (3)	0.0% (0)	75.0% (6)	0.0% (0)	12.5% (1)

NGO	22.2% (2)	0.0% (0)	0.0% (0)	12.5% (1)	0.0% (0)	12.5% (1)
Other	0.0% (0)	10% (1)	33.3% (1)	0.0% (0)	0.0% (0)	37.5% (3)

Select comments:

Answer	Affiliations	Comment
Yes, and I	US/Gov	My understanding is that CITES tries to establish population status on a
don't know if		global scale, which may be inappropriate for
I support		characterizing the status of distinct population segments such as CTS in
the listing		the Northeastern Pacific.
Yes, and I do	US/Other	I do not support the listing for the north eastern Pacific population
not support		
the listing		
Yes, and I	US/AS	Tracking and understanding the amount of trade of the sharks is an
support the		important information gathering mechanism. But
listing		CITES listings do not always lead directly to implementation of
		protections or changes in trade practices, so there are
		challenges.
Yes, and I do	Mex/Gov	Placing CITES Appendix II on a species or species of sharks does not
not support		solve the problem of overfishing occurring in different regions of the
the listing		world. It is the fisheries management measures that have the greatest
		impact on overexploited stocks.
Yes, and I do	Mex/AS	I do not support the inclusion of common thresher into CITE's A II. I
not support		agree with the inclusion of bigeye thresher and pelagic thresher.
the listing		

**Q15:** The current level of protection for Common Thresher sharks in the Northeastern Pacific is sufficient.

Quantitative results:

US Results



## Mexico Results



Combined US/Mexico Results



Following Question 15, respondents were prompted to comments with: Please comment on specific strategies you feel could improve bilateral management of Common Thresher sharks between the US and Mexico:

Comments from US respondents
Scientist from both sides collaborating on the research
Use shark tourism as an economic alternative to fishermen
Bi-lateral management must occur with closer relationships and collaborations between fisheries and
conservation sectors who share borders.
It's difficult to say. It needs a change of mentality that is very difficult to bring about.
Finding a shared political motivation and commitment to coordination is a big one. After that, given
the nature of the fisheries that tend to catch threshers, the capacity to adequately monitor, sample and
ultimately to enforce any bilaterally agreed goals would be critical to the viability of any such plans.
It would be great if bilateral management of common thresher sharks was part of a broader bilateral
partnership on fisheries research and management between the US and Mexico. These would include
understanding socioeconomic drivers behind the ebb and flow of specific fisheries, monitoring, data
sharing, and research planning. One of the biggest challenges might be defining common management
objectives given the two countries have different legal frameworks.
More info needed for thresher catch (all Alopias spp.) in MX waters
As far as I'm aware the two countries have no governmental process for cooperative fisheries
management. Nor is there an NGO working in that space.
Further measures to address IUU fishing in US and Mexican waters, including strengthened measures
related to shark finning.
Recognizing that the principle set forth in MSA National Standard 3 is still applicable to
transboundary fisheries and establishing a dialogue to coordinate CTS management could be a place to
start. I'm also not sure off the top of my head whether the IATTC has a role in managing CTS between

the US and Mexico, but coordinating management through the RFMO process could be worth exploring if it is not already in place.

Seasonal closures, gear restrictions and eliminating gill nets, stronger enforcement.

It would be good to have a better understanding of Mexico's production, the size it first maturity and some better estimates of species specific catch. With size and sex data

Comments from Mexico respondents

That they be regularly disseminated at the level of the fishing fields, in addition to the centers of collection in cities.

Educate the public and fishermen. Establish a regulated market, legal, with high prices for certain products, so that the fisherman does not need to overdraw to have an adequate standard of living. That is to say, to improve the living conditions of people, and their concept of the importance of species, is the best way to protect, in general, the natural communities.

Mexico needs to be more severe in the practice of fishery normatives. The economical and technological gap between Mexican and USA fisheries needs to be address, to achieve a proper management of shared natural resources

Improve scientific cooperation on fisheries issues such as the stock assessment, improve fishery statistics, improve the scientific observer program, improve the research capabilities of Mexican scientific groups (INAPESCA, CICESE, UABC, among others).

Because there is already a robust analysis of the population of common thresher sharks and are currently caught incidentally, it would propose a catch quota for thresher

To keep monitoring and collecting fisheries data in order to update the assessment to see if further changes are need.

The common shark meat that is of high quality and has a high economic value goes directly to the United States, so the management of this species could be controlled at any given time if the EU market reduces or controls demand.

Q 16: Which of the following groups do you affiliate with?

Combined results:

